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Front Elevation 

ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION 

Buildings #206, #202, #210 and #214 comprise the 
Fort Jay Family Housing. Located inside the Fort 
Jay walls, these four structures form the interior 
quadrangle in the center of the fort. Rectangular in 
plan and constructed of brick on a granite and 
sandstone foundation, these Greek Revival buildings 
are topped with hipped roofs with white-painted 
cornices. The two-story portico, consisting of twelve 
brownstone (now painted) Doric columns, faces the 
interior courtyard. Although the buildings have 
suffered several alterations, the overall character of 
the 19th century quadrangle is well preserved. 

SITE LOCATION 

Building #206 encloses the southern end of the 
courtyard inside Fort Jay. 

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT 

Building #206, along with Buildings #202, #210, and 
#214 were constructed between 1834 and 1836 to 
house the garrison headquartered on the Island. The 
construction of these barracks reflects the change in 
use of the Fort in the first half of the nineteenth 
century. Developing technology rendered the 

BUILDING # 206 
FORT }AY FAMILY HOUSING 
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masonry fort obsolete, but the strategic importance 
of the Island made it well suited to house the 
Federal military headquarters (1821) and the New 
York Arsenal (1833). The barracks were the first of 
many new structures built to accommodate the 
needs of the garrison. In the 1860s the iron balconies 
were added to the second floor on the courtyard 
side. When the Coast Guard took possession of the 
Island in the twentieth century, the barracks were 
designated for use as officer family housing. 

SIGNIFICANCE 

Building #206 is a Category 1 property . 

The building is individually listed as a New York 
City Landmark and on the National Register of 
Historic Places. The collection of four barracks 
reflects the general change in fort use and construc­
tion and the particular military change in use of the 
Island during the 1820s, 1830s and 1840s. These 
buildings have been in continuous use as residences 
since construction. 

WHAT IS IMPORTANT TO PRESERVE? 

Numerous alterations have been made over time to 
accommodate the different needs of the different 



Rear Elevation 

groups who occupied the structure. However, most 
of the alterations affected the interior of the building. 
Although the vaulted carriageway that passed 
through the center of the building was closed, the 
primary character-defining elements of the 
exterior are intact. 

Exterior elements of the building that should be 
preserved include its form and scale; roof line; 
masonry walls; two-story columns; iron porch 
railing; second floor balcony with railings; arched 
opening/vaults through center of building; entrance 
doors with transoms; wood cornice; and, wood 
windows. 

Due to numerous remodelings, there are no interior 
elements in the building that require preservation. 

KEY PRESERVATION ISSUES 

Building #206 is an important part of Fort Jay and, as 
such, its architectural character and style are critical 
elements to preserve. The enclosure formed by the 
barracks building maintains a courtyard and assem­
bly area consistent with the original defensive fort. 
Because of its prominence, no above-grade additions 
should be placed on the courtyard facade or sides of 
Building # 206. 

End Elevation 

LANDSCAPE & SITE FEATURES 

The interior court of Fort Jay is composed of paved 
driveways and walkways and small grassy areas 
with mature trees. The area between the residences 
and the outer walls is filled with sloped grassy areas 
and mature trees. The sloped grass areas and 
mature trees should be preserved and maintained. 
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ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION 

Buildings #210, #202, #206 and #214 comprise the 
Fort Jay Family Housing. Located inside the Fort 
Jay walls, these four structures form the interior 
quadrangle in the center of the fort. Rectangular in 
plan and constructed of brick on a granite and 
sandstone foundation, these Greek Revival buildings 
are topped with hipped roofs with white-painted 
cornices. The two-story portico, consisting of twelve 
brownstone (now painted) Doric columns, faces the 
interior courtyard. Although the buildings have 
suffered several alterations, the overall character of 
the 19th century quadrangle is well preserved. 

SITE LOCATION 

Building #210 encloses the west side of the court­
yard inside Fort Jay. 

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT 

Building #210, along with Buildings #202, #206, and 
#214 were constructed between 1834 and 1836 to 
house the garrison headquartered on the Island. The 
construction of these barracks reflects the change in 
use of the Fort in the first half of the nineteenth 
century. Developing technology rendered the 

BUILDING # 210 
FORT JAY FAMILY HOUSING 
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masonry fort obsolete, but the strategic importance 
of the Island made it well suited to house the 
Federal military headquarters (1821) and the New 
York Arsenal (1833). The barracks were the first of 
many new structures built to accommodate the 
needs of the garrison. In the 1860s the iron balconies 
were added to the second floor on the courtyard 
side. When the Coast Guard took possession of the 
Island in the twentieth century, the barracks were 
designated for use as officer family housing. 

SIGNIFICANCE 

Building #210 is a Category 1 property . 

The building is individually listed as a New York 
City Landmark and on the National Register of 
Historic Places. The collection of four barracks 

· reflects the general change in fort use and construc­
tion and the particular military change in use of the 
Island during the 1820s, 1830s and 1840s. These 
buildings have been in continuous use as residences 
since construction. 

WHAT IS IMPORTANT TO PRESERVE? 

Numerous alterations have been made over time to 
accommodate the different needs of the different 
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groups who occupied the structure. However, most 
of the alterations affected the interior of the building. 
The primary character-defining elements of the 
exterior are intact. 

Exterior elements of the building that should be 
preserved include its form and scale; roof line; 
masonry walls; two-story columns; iron porch 
railing; second floor balcony with railings; arched 
opening/ vaults through center of building; entrance 
doors with transoms; wood cornice; and, wood 
windows. 

Due to numerous remodelings, there are no interior 
elements in the building that require preservation. 

KEY PRESERVATION ISSUES 

Building #210 is an important part of Fort Jay and, as 
such, its architectural character and style are critical 
elements to preserve. The enclosure formed by the 
barracks building maintains a courtyard and assem­
bly area consistent with the original defensive fort. 
Because of its prominence, no above-grade additions 
should be placed on the courtyard facade or sides of 
Building #210. 

LANDSCAPE & SITE FEATURES 

The interior court of Fort Jay is composed of paved 
driveways and walkways and small grassy areas 
with mature trees. The area between the residences 
and the outer walls is filled with sloped grassy areas 
and mature trees. The sloped grass areas and 
mature trees should be preserved and maintained. 

• 

• 

• 

•
i 

. ' 

• 

:• 



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Front Elevation 

ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION 

Buildings #214, #202, #206 and #210 comprise the 
Fort Jay Family Housing. Located inside the Fort 
Jay walls, these four structures form the interior 
quadrangle in the center of the fort. Rectangular in 
plan and constructed of brick on a granite and 
sandstone foundation, these Greek Revival buildings 
are topped with hipped roofs with white-painted 
cornices. The two-story portico, consisting of twelve 
brownstone (now painted) Doric columns, faces the 
interior courtyard. Although the buildings have 
suffered several alterations, the overall character of 
the 19th century quadrangle is well preserved. 

SITE LOCATION 

Building #214 encloses the north end of the court­
yard inside Fort Jay. 

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT 

Building #214, along with Buildings #202, #206, and 
#210 were constructed between 1834 and 1836 to 
house the garrison headquartered on the Island. The 
construction of these barracks reflects the change in 
use of the Fort in the first half of the nineteenth 
century. Developing technology rendered the 

Site Location Map 

BUILDING # 214 
FORT }AY FAMILY HOUSING 

masonry fort obsolete, but the strategic importance 
of the Island made it well suited to house the 
Federal military headquarters (1821) and the New 
York Arsenal (1833). The barracks were the first of 
many new structures built to acconunodate the 
needs of the garrison. In the 1860s the iron balconies 
were added to the second floor on the courtyard 
side. When the Coast Guard took possession of the 
Island in the twentieth century, the barracks were 
designated for use as officer family housing. 

SIGNIFICANCE 

Building #214 is a Category 1 property . 

The building is individually listed as a New York 
City Landmark and on the National Register of 
Historic Places. The collection of four barracks 
reflects the general change in fort use and construc­
tion and the particular military change in use of the 
Island during the 1820s, 1830s and 1840s. These 
buildings have been in continuous use as residences 
since construction. 

WHAT IS IMPORTANT TO PRESERVE? 

Numerous alterations have been made over time to 
accommodate the different needs of the different 
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groups who occupied the structure. However, most 
of the alterations affected the interior of the building. 
The primary character-defining elements of the 
exterior are intact. 

Exterior elements of the building that should be 
preserved include its form and scale; roof line; 
masonry walls; two-story columns; iron porch 
railing; second floor balcony with railings; arched 
opening I vaults through center of building; entrance 
doors with transoms; wood cornice; and, wood 
windows. 

Due to numerous remodelings, there are no interior 
elements in the building that require preservation. 

KEY PRESERVATION ISSUES 

Building #214 is an important part of Fort Jay and, as 
such, its architectural character and style are critical 
elements to preserve. The enclosure formed by the 
barracks building maintains a courtyard and assem­
bly area consistent with the original defensive fort. 
Because of its prominence, no above-grade additions 
should be placed on the courtyard facade or sides of 
Building #214. 

Setting 

LANDSCAPE & SITE FEATURES 

The interior court of Fort Jay is composed of paved 
driveways and walkways and small grassy areas 
with mature trees. The area between the residences 
and the outer walls is filled with sloped grassy areas 
and mature trees. The sloped grass areas and 
mature trees should be preserved and maintained. 
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ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION 

Building #251, known as the "Tampa Memorial 
Library", is a one-story wood frame utilitarian 
structure set on a painted, brick masonry foundation 
and under a hipped roof. The northern half of the 
building is clad in asbestos shingles and contains 
small clerestory windows, while the southern half is 
clad in aluminum siding and has large, eight-over­
eight double-hung windows. There are entrances in 
the northern and southern ends of the building. 

SITE LOCATION 

The Library is located at the southeastern corner of 
Tampa Road and Andes Road and east of Castle 
Williams. It stands in the line of sight between 
Castle Williams and Fort Jay, which for defensive 
purposes was intended to be kept clear. The site, 
east of a large parking lot, is sparsely vegetated and 
barren. 

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT 

Building #251 was built in 1908 as a temporary 
storehouse and workshop for the Fort Jay Quarter­
master. Most recently, the structure housed the 
Tampa Memorial Library. It was named to com­
memorate the sinking of the U.S.S. Tampa battleship 
in 1918 . 

BUILDING # 251 
TAMPA MEMORIAL LIBRARY 
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SIGNIFICANCE 

Building #251 is a Category 3 property. 

The building is not a particularly historic or architec­
turally significant structure. It was constructed to 
serve a utilitarian purpose without conforming to 
any major stylistic or architectural trends of the 
period. 

WHAT IS IMPORTANT TO PRESERVE? 

Because numerous modifications have destroyed 
any historic or architectural integrity of the building, 
there are no elements of this building that require 
preservation. This building may be demolished. 

KEY PRESERVATION ISSUES 

Because of the proximity of this site to Castle 
Williams, if Building #251 is demolished, the site is 
not suitable for new construction. 

LANDSCAPE & SITE FEATURES 

This building is surrounded by paved parking lots . 
There are no site features which should be pre­
served. 
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ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION 

Building #293 is a modern (c.1986) two-story brick 
building with a black asphalt-shingle gable roof. 
Windows occur in pairs and consist of insulated, 
double-hung aluminum sash with snap-in mullions 
that create an eight-over-eight appearance. Vents 
occur beneath each window opening. A 
pedimented, full height portico with four Doric 
columns is located at the center of the south and 
north elevations. 

SITE LOCATION 

The building faces Comfort Road and is east of 
Barry Road. It is prominently located at the south­
ern terminus of the main parade ground between 
Nolan Park and Colonel's Row. 

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT 

Building #293 was used as.a motel and guesthouse 
for visitors to Governors Island from its construction 
in 1986 to 1997. It replaced a one-and-a-half story 
frame structure built as quarters for officers of the 
Quartermaster Corps c.1871-72. The parking lot in 
front of Building #293 was the site of the Fort 
Columbus cemetery. The bodies were removed to 
Cypress Hills Cemetery, Queens, in 1889 as the post 
was expanding and constructing new buildings . 

Site Location Map 

SIGNIFICANCE 

BUILDING # 293 
MOTEL/GUEST HOUSE 

Building #293 is a Category 4 property. 

Although the building is not historic, its site is very 
prominent, impacting three of the most significant 
areas on the island and defining one edge of the 
largest open space . 

WHAT IS IMPORTANT TO PRESERVE? 

There are no elements of this building that should be 
preserved. 

KEY PRESERVATION ISSUES 

This building is a candidate for significant alteration 
or demolition. The empty site would then be a 
candidate for new construction. Note that the 
location is highly significant and great care must be 
exercised to minimize the impact of proposed 
changes on adjacent structures. The parking area to 
the south has also been designated as a potential site 
for new construction. 

LANDSCAPE & SITE FEATURES 

Building #293 is surrounded on three sides by the 
parade ground and paved roadways and parking to 
the south. 
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ARCHITECTURAL DESCRlPTION 

Building #298, most recently used as the Officers' 
Club, is a highly evolved building built in multiple 
generations on the remains of the South Battery. The 
original Half Moon Battery, or South Battery, was 
built in 1812 prior to the war with Britain to serve, 
along with Castle Williams and Fort Jay, as a key 
component of New York's defensive fortifications. 
Only the lower level composed of red sandstone 
walls, remains of that original structure. The bar­
racks constructed on the older sections was con­
structed in the middle of the nineteenth century. It 
consists of brick masonry bearing walls in Flemish 
bond, white trimmed windows with lights of 
varying sizes and numbers (eight-over-two and two­
over-two double-hung windows), and white-painted 
trim and cornices. The building is ornamented with 
Nee-Georgian details with a Palladian window 
treatment in the main facade and pilasters. The main 
entrance features rusticated stone masonry. A brick 
masonry wing includes arched window openings, 
stone keystones, pedimented doorways and another 
Palladian window facing an outdoor terrace. 

SITE LOCATION 

The building is located in the southern end of the 
Historic District in a duster of community /recre­
ational structures. The main entrance faces Fort Jay 

Site Location Map 

BUILDING #298 
Sourn BAITERY 

to the north. In between the two are the tennis 
courts. The Chapel (Building #13) lies to the north­
east and the Guest House (Building #293) lies to the 
northwest. Building #298 is located within the· 
original stone Battery walls. 

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT 

Built as part of the larger harbor fortification system 
just prior to the War of 1812, South Battery was sited 
to overlook and protect the Buttermilk Channel. The 
Battery had an arrowhead shape with thirteen 
cannon on an open parapet. What is now Building 
#298 began as a single-story barracks structure with 
a slate gable roof built within the original fortifica­
tion in the 1840s. Prior to 1863, the second story was 
added and the building occupied by noncommis­
sioned staff. In 1878 the structure became the 
Officers' Mess Hall and Catholic Chapel. The 
building was remodeled in 1904 and converted into 
an amusement hall and lecture room for enlisted 
men. Between 1936 and 1937, the WPArebuilt the 
second floor as The Corbin Dining Hall. In 1939 the 
building became the Officer's Club. 

SIGNIFICANCE 

Building #298 is a Category 2 property. 
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The.original red sandstone section of the Battery 
played a very significant role as one of the Island's 
three batteries of defenses. The remnants of that 
original fortification include red sandstone walls that 
now serve as a retaining wall for Building #298, · 
above. Building #298, together with the remains of 
the South Battery, are greatly altered from their 
original forms, yet retain a high degree of signifi­
cance due to the central role these structures played 
in the history of Governors Island. 

WHAT IS IMPORTANT TO PRESERVE? 

The exterior of Building # 298 reflects the many, 
varied uses the structure has undergone. The interior 
has been greatly altered and, with the exception of 
the formal second floor Ball Room, has a low level of 
architectural integrity. 

Exterior elements of the building that should be 
preserved include the red sandstone Battery wall; 
exterior brick masonry, and door and window 
treatments; wood cornice and wooden balustrades. 

Interior elements of the building that should be 
preserved include the woodwork, doors, windows, 
ceiling and minstrels' gallery in the second floor 
ballroom. 

Second Floor Rear Elevation Showing Ballroom Window 

KEY PRESERVATION ISSUES 

The remaining Battery walls and fortification 
elements, including historic archeological remains, 
are important preservation issues, as is preservation 
of the second floor Ball Room. The scale of the 
building, and its orientation between Fort Jay and 
Buttermilk Channel are important aspects that. 
should be preserved. 

LANDSCAPE & SITE FEATURES 

The building is surrounded by paved roads and 
parking lots. Any mature trees and landscaping 
surrounding the property should be preserved and 
maintained. 
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ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION 

Building #301 is a one-story "Neo-Georgian" style 
structure with a modified L plan. The reddish-brown 
brick facing is laid up in Flemish bond on a brick 
foundation. Brick quoins mark the corners and the 
bay divisions. The central section has an asphalt­
covered pyramidal roof with a cupola and a project­
ing pedimented entrance pavilion on the north side. 
Semicircular cast stone steps on a brick base (re­
placed on the west side with a ramp) with a 
wrought-iron railing lead to a limestone porch on 
brick check walls. The entrance surround has wood 
pilasters supporting a transom with decorative 
fanlight. The cast stone pediment contains an eagle 
in relief. On the south (Kimmel Road) side, the 
entrance pavilion has three arched French doors 
opening onto a veranda of brick and cast stone. Both 
the central sections and the wings have a cast stone 
beltcourse above the basement and window open­
ings with cast stone sills and splayed brick lintels. 
The window sashes are double-hung metal replace­
ments with applied muntin grids. 

SITE LOCATION 

The building overlooks Buttermilk Channel and is 
bound by Kimmel Road to the south, Clayton Road 
to the west and Comfort Road to the north. It is 
located behind Building #298/South Battery . 

Site Location Map 

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT 

BUILDING # 301 
SCHOOL 

This school building was constructed in 1934 when 
the army base at Governors Island expanded to 
accommodate the needs of the 16th Regiment. The 
architect, Eric Kibbon, practiced in New York City 
during the 1930s. The Neo-Georgian design is not 
only compatible with the many multi-family resi­
dential structures built on the base at the time, but 
was also one that was popular for public school 
design. Wings at the east and north, added in 1959-
60, are stylistically compatible with the center 
pavilion. After the construction of a large public 
school (c.1970) outside the boundaries of the historic 
district, this building was converted to a daycare 
center and craft shop. 

SIGNIFICANCE 

Building #301 is a Category 2 property . 

This structure is associated with the last major 
building campaign on Governors Island marking the 
establishment of substantial and permanent military 
community. It has been used as a school since its 
construction in 1934 . 
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WHAT IS lMPORTANf TO PRESERVE? 

Building #301 has undergone significant alterations 
with the construction of two large additions and 
replacement of all of the windows. However, these 
alterations have been sensitively executed. 

Exterior elements of the building that should be 
preserved include its scale, the center section of the 
building with the hipped and roof bell tower, and 
side wings. 

Because of extensive remodelings, there are no 
interior elements that should be preserved. 

KEY PRESERVATION ISSUES 

The scale of Building #301 is an important issue. Its 
site is constrained, not allowing room for additions. 
However, the area between Building #301 and #309, 
at the northwest corner of the building, could be a 
suitable site for new construction. 

LANDSCAPE & SITE FEATURES 

Building #301 is surrounded by concrete and asphalt 
roads and walkways, and mature trees are located 
within grassy plots around the building. Mature 
trees and landscapes around the building should be 
preserved. 
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ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION 

Building #309 is a one-story rectangular frame 
structure covered with vinyl siding. The gabled roof 
is covered with asphalt shingles. A tower at the 
north end, rising behind the entrance porch, has a 
copper finial. A brick chimney is at the south end. 
The window openings have six-over-six sash on the 
north end; the other window openings on the sides 
have sixteen-over-sixteen sash set behind storm 
sash. 

SITE LOCATION 

The building occupies a prominent triangular site at 
the intersection Clayton and Comfort Roads. 

H1sroruc DEVELOPMENT 

Building #309 was built as Our Lady Star of the Sea 
Catholic chapel c.1942, during the Army base's 
Second World War expansion. It continued in that 
use until 1997. 

SIGNIFICANCE 

Building #309 is a Category 3 property. 

It represents the ongoing development of the 
military community on Governors Island . 

BUILDING # 309 
CATHOLIC CHAPEL 
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WHAT IS IMPORTANT TO PRESERVE? 
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The exterior of Building #309 has been substantially 
altered by the addition of vinyl siding and other 
alterations, including a rear addition with wood 
steps and covered landing, and the front entry 
vestibule. The original architectural integrity of the 
building has been lost. 

There are no exterior or interior elements of the 
building that should be preserved. This building 
may be demolished. 

LANDSCAPE & SITE FEATURES 

The mature trees and landscaping surrounding the 
property should be preserved and maintained. 
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ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION 

Building #315, built 1938-40, is a three-and-one-half 
story, rectangular-shaped "Neo-Georgian" style 
structure. The building is constructed of red brick 
laid in common bond with simple Georgian Revival 
detailing and cast stone accents at the entrance and 
sills. It is organized into three sections with a 
shallow projecting pavilion surmounted by a 
pediment, which intersects the slate-covered hipped 
roofs. 

SITE LOCATION 

The building overlooks Buttermilk Channel, facing 
Craig Road South. It is bordered by Cartigan Road 
to the north, Clayton Road to the east, and Division 
Road to the west. 

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT 

Building #315 was constructed in 1938-40 along with 
Building # 555, anchoring the two ends of Division 
Road, as family housing for officers of the l61h 

Regiment. Situated on landfill overlooking the 
Buttermilk Channel, it was part of the unified 
beautification plan proposed in 1928 for Governors 
Island by the architectural firm of McKim, Mead and 
White. Construction was delayed until funding 
became available in the late 1930s . 

BUILDING # 315 
FAMILY HOUSING 
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SIGNIFICANCE 

Building #315 is a Category 2 property. 

Designed by the prominent New York architectural 
firm of McKim, Mead & White, Building #315 is 
typical of the residential buildings built by the Army 
in the 1930's to accommodate the permanent mili­
tary community on the Island. This structure is 
within the New York City Governors Island Historic 
District, which was designated on June 18th, 1996. It 
is included in the National Register for Historic 
Places nomination, which dates from October 1984. 

WHAT IS lMPOITTANT TO PRESERVE? 

Building #315 appears to have undergone few 
alterations since its construction. 

Exterior elements of the building that should be 
preserved include its form and scale; brick masonry; 
cast stone door surrounds; pediments at projecting 
pavilions; wood cornice; iron rails at steps; leaded 
glass; and, transom above entry doors. 

Interior elements of the building are undistin­
guished, and do not require preservation. · 
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KEY PRESERVATION IssuEs 

The scale and form of the building, along with its 
Neo-Georgian style are important preservation 
issues, as is the siting of the structure. Because of its 
design and site constraints, there are no suitable 
areas for above ground additions to the building. 

LANDSCAPE & SITE FEATURES 

Building #315 is surrounded by concrete and asphalt 
paving, however, mature trees are located along the 
southern edge of the building, edging Craig Road 
South. This landscaping should be preserved and 
maintained. 

Setting 
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ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION 

Building #324 is a rectangular Neo-Georgian style 
structure with a two-story central section flanked by 
one-story wings. The red brick facing is laid up in 
Flemish bond. A limestone beltcourse bearing the 
date "1926" marks the foundation. The center 
section has an asphalt-covered hipped roof and a 
projecting two-story wood entrance portico with a 
gabled pediment. The portico is approached by 
granite steps. The entrance has a limestone surround 
and paired paneled wood doors. A panel reading 
"Army YMCA" is placed above the door. The 
flanking wings have asphalt-covered pyramidal 
roofs and pedimented doorway surrounds of wood. 
The window openings have splayed brick lintels; 
those that have not been boarded up retain six-over­
six double-hung sash. On the rear elevation of the 
central section, the frame second story has been 
covered with aluminum siding. An outdoor swim­
ming pool is raised above grade to the south of the 
building. 

SITE LOCATION 

The building faces onto Owasco Road and is north 
of Cartigan Road. 

Site Location Map 

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT 

BUILDING # 324 
YMCA 

Designed by May and Hillard, this structure was 
built in 1926 as the Fort Jay YMCA and was the first 
of the large brick buildings constructed between the 
wars. The Neo-Georgian style set the pattern for the 
buildings that followed. The building replaces an 
earlier, much smaller "Y" and houses a club, offices, 
and exercise rooms with an outdoor swimming pool 
to the rear. The building has been vacant for several 
years. 

SIGNIFICANCE 

Building #324 is a Category 2 property. 

It has served as a community center for the Island 
since its construction and was the forerunner of the 
building boom on the Island between the World 
Wars . 

WHAT IS lMPOITTANT TO PRESERVE? 

Over the years, Building #324 has undergone several 
alterations-a brick pump house (Building #318) at 
the northeast comer of the property; a wood addi­
tion on the east facade; and, many of the windows 
infilled with brick or concrete . 



Rear Elevation 

Exterior elements of the building that should be 
preserved include its form, scale, and style; brick 
masonry; wood door surrounds and half round 
transoms; wood entrance porticos with columns and 
pediments; window openings; and, limestone door 
surround at the main entrance under the portico. 

Because of the numerous remodelings of the build­
ing, there are no interior elements that should be 
preserved. 

KEY PRESERVATION ISSUES 

The scale and style of Building #324 are important 
issues, and the formality of its presentation along 
Owasco Road. No additions should be placed on the 
front (Owasco Road) of the building, or the sides. 
The swimming pool to the rear of the building, along 
with the south facade, can be removed or modified. 
New construction or additions could occur on that 
portion of the site. 

LANDSCAPE & SITE FEATURES 

The mature trees and landscaping surrounding the 
building should be preserved. 

Setting 
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Front Elevation 

ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION 

Building #330 is a two-story Neo-Georgian style 
theater building on a concrete foundation faced with 
a reddish-brown brick laid in American bond. The 
main block of the building has brick quoins at the 
corners and a slate-covered hipped roof. On the 
north side is a two-story gabled projection above the 
entrance portico. This projection has three blind 
arches at the second floor with cast stone keystones 
and impost blocks, brick quoins and a raking wood 
cornice outlying the gable. A metal sign bar bearing 
the letters "THEATRE" extends across the arches. A 
one-story wood entrance portico with a flat roof 
extends across the north front and shelters the 
freestanding ticket booth and the entrances to the 
theater. Openings along the east and west sides of 
the building have wood six-over-six double-hung 
windows and auxiliary entrances I exits. A project­
ing wing with a hipped roof has been added at the 
south end of the building. 

SITE LOCATION 

The building faces on to Owasco Road and is 
bordered by Cartigan Road to the north and Divi­
sion Road to the south. It is grouped with other 
community-oriented structures including building 
#324. 

Site Location Map 

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT 

BUILDING # 330 
THEATER 

Building #330 was designed and constructed 
between 1937-39 to serve as a theater. It is rectangu­
lar in plan with Neo-Georgian detailing at the 
exterior and Art Deco detailing within the audito­
rium. It was typical of theaters constructed on 
military bases during that period. It has continued 
to be used for the showing of films and as an audito­
rium. 

SIGNIFICANCE 

Building #330 is a Category 2 property . 

It has continually provided an entertainment/ social 
center for the base. It is representative of the be­
tween-the-wars building boom and the acconunoda­
tion of the permanent military community on the 
Island. This structure is within the New York City 
Governors Island Historic District. It is listed in the 
National Register for Historic Places nomination, 
which dates from October 1984. 

WHAT IS IMPORTANT TO PRESERVE? 

Building #330 has retained a great deal of its original 
material and appearance. Over the years there have 
been alterations including two brick additions to the 
rear. 



Rear Elevation 

Exterior elements of the building that should be 
preserved include the building scale and basic form; 
the front facade, except for the railings; brick ma­
sonry quoins at the comers and piers along facades; 
door surrounds and blind arches at the side en­
trances; and, the fascia at cornice and porch. 

Based on the contribution of this building to the 
Historic District, there are no interior elements that 
should be preserved. 

KEY PRESERVATION ISSUES 

The orientation of the building to Division Road, 
maintaining a formal setback and line related to 
Building #400, is an important feature, as is the scale 
of the structure. 

Because of the site constraints, there currently is no 
location where additions could be placed on the 
building. However, if space was available, additions 
could be placed on the northeast side of the building 
without causing damage to its significance. 

LANDSCAPE & SITE FEATURES 

Building #330 is surrounded by concrete and asphalt 
paving, which have no significance. Mature trees are 
located within grassy plots around the building 
should be preserved. 

Side Elevation 
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Front Elevation 

ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION 

Building #333 is a three-story Neo-Georgian style 
structure arranged in a U-shaped plan and con­
structed of brick on a sandstone/ concrete founda­
tion. A limestone beltcourse separates the first story 
from the upper floors. The building has asphalt 
shingle covered gable roofs. A central projection 
contains an entrance porch composed of stone 
columns and pilasters supporting an iron balus­
trade. The entrance has a granite sill with Palladian 
windows located above. Two-story open galleries 
are located along the courtyard facade. Fenestration 
consists of aluminum six-over-six double-hung 
windows and paneled wood doors. 

SITE LOCATION 

The building is located between King Avenue, 
Owasco Road, Division Road and Clayton Road . 

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT 

Building #333, along with Building #550, was 
constructed in 1932 according to plans prepared by 
the architectural firm of McKim, Mead and White 
for "Detachment Barracks". The Army used the 
building as a barracks for enlisted men. The two 
nearly identical buildings flank Building #400 and 
are very similar to it in general design features . 

Site Location Map 

BUILDING # 333 
DETACHMENT BARRACKS 

These three buildings were part of the unified 
beautification plan proposed in 1928 for Governors 
Island by the office of McKim, Mead and White. 
Construction was delayed until funding became 
available in the late 1930s. When built, the main 
entrance was oriented to Owasco Road. 

After the First Army moved its headquarters to 
Bristol, England, in 1943 the barracks were turned 
over to the Second Service Command who con­
verted part of the building for office space. In 1946 
the building housed a WAC detachment. In 1966 the 
Coast Guard converted the building to classrooms 
for training purposes. It has most recently been 
used for offices. 

SIGNIFICANCE 

Building #333 is a Category 2 property. 

It was designed by the prominent New York archi­
tectural firm of McKim Mead & White. Along with 
Buildings # 400 and # 550 it forms a clear defining 
edge to the historic district along Division Road. 

WHAT IS IMPORTANT TO PRESERVE? 

All four facades of Building #333 are designed to be 
primary facades and are rich in detail and articula­
tion. The interior of Building # 333 has been ex ten-



Partial Rear Elevation 

sively modified over the years, and all of the build­
ing windows have been replaced. 

Exterior elements of the building that should be 
preserved include its scale, form, and basic design; 
brick and limestone masonry and detailing; wood 
cornice and gable rakes; entrance porch, including 
columns and pilasters; wood elements and iron 
balcony; half-round windows; and, open galleries. 

Because of numerous and extensive remodelings, 
there are no interior elements that should be pre­
served. 

KEY PRESERVATION ISSUES 

The basic scale, form, and detaining are important 
preservation elements, as is the orientation of the 
building to Building #400, Division Road, and 
Clayton Avenue. 

Because of the design and detailing of the building, 
the placement of additions must to carefully consid­
ered. 

LANDSCAPE & SITE FEATURES 

The brick sidewalks and mature landscaping sur­
rounding the building should be preserved. 
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Front Elevation 

ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION 

Designed by the office of McKim, Mead and White, 
Building #400, also known as Liggett Hall, is the 
largest building on Governors Island and among the 
largest military buildings in the world. AU-shaped 
Neo-Georgian style structure, it has a tall central 
section with a monumental arched sallyport ori­
ented north-south through the building. The 
pedimented sallyport is set within a shallow projec­
tion delineated by stone quoins. Its arched entryway 
consists of alternating stone and brick voussoirs. The 
central block, which is covered by a steeply pitched 
slate-covered gable roof, and the four comer pavil­
ions each have a cupola. Prominent paired end 
chimneys are present on either end of the central 
block. Extending from the central block are three­
story wings with two-story galleries that line the 
courtyard facades. Simple, slightly projecting portico 
entrances lead into each wing. Exterior walls are 
composed of red brick set on a concrete foundation, 
window openings have limestone sills, and win­
dows consist of six-over-six, double-hung metal 
replacements. Two-story open galleries face the 
courtyard. Building #400 is the centerpiece of the 
between-the-wars building boom, and forms the 
southern boundary of the historic district. 

Site Location Map 

SITE LOCATION 

BUILDING # 400 
LIGGERT HALL 

The central block of Building #400 faces Colonels 
Row across Clayton Road, and the central arched 
sallyport spans Early Bird Road. The structure was 
designed as the centerpiece of the "Island Beautiful" 
building campaign that took place in the 1930s. Its 
monumental presence separates the historic portion 
of Governor's Island from the later landfill area that 
was developed following World War II. 

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT 

In 1902, the Army chose the architecture firm of 
McKim, Mead, and White to develop a major 
improvement plan for Governors Island. Their 
proposed changes were extensive, and for several 
decades there was little funding to implement the 
ambitious plan. By 1928 only the land mass-expan­
sion and seawall portions of the project had been 
carried out. The office of McKim, Mead, and White 
began to design Building #400, which was the first 
construction element of the plan, after appropria­
tions were made in 1928. The building housed the 
entire l61n Infantry, 1,375 soldiers, when it was 
completed in 1930. The building was erected along 
the former southwestern shoreline of the Island and 
was the first permanent structure built entirely on 
landfill. 



Central Entry 

Modifications were made to the building over time, 
including an extensive set of interior alterations 
carried out during the 1960s and 1970s to reconfigure 
the quarters and improve living conditions. The 
building was renamed Liggett Hall, after First Army 
commander Lieutenant General Hunter Liggett, in 
1957. 

SIGNIFICANCE 

Buildfrtg # 400 is a Category 2 property. 

The building is significant in the history and devel­
opment of Governors Island. It was the first build­
ing designed to house an entire regiment and is 
closely associated with the important American 
design firm McKim, Mead, and White and the 
"Island Beautiful" movement. As the largest quarters 
building, it played an important role during the 
Island's administrative period. 

WHAT IS IMPORTANT TO PRESERVE? 

Building #400 experienced significant interior 
alterations in the 1960s and 1970s. Exterior alter­
ations from this period include adding two new 
wings to the original structure and closing off 
portions of the first-story arcade. Levels of interior 
integrity are low; however, the exterior still substan­
tially retains its 1930 appearance. Two large addi­
tions were constructed within the courtyard of 
Building #400. These additions have no architectural 

Setting 

merit. Some of the galleries facing the courtyard 
have been enclosed with glass. 

Exterior elements of the building that should be 
preserved include the formal design, its scale and 
form; brick masonry walls; stone detailing; central 
cupola; slate chimney; monumental sallyport; paired 
end chimneys; pedimented entrances; location of 
window and door openings; and the galleries. 

Due to extensive remodelings, there are no interior 
elements that should be preserved. 

KEY PRESERVATION ISSUES 

The overall design of Building #400, with its detail­
ing and open galleries are important elements that 
should be preserved. The orientation of the build­
ing, forming a solid wall along Clayton Avenue, and 
the entry into the southern portion of the Island are 
preservation issues that have to be taken into 
consideration when redeveloping and using this 
building. Site constraints prevent additions to be 
placed on the north, east or south portions of the 
building. Previously constructed additions within 
the building's west courtyard are inappropriate in 
scale and design, and can be removed. Any new 
construction in this area must take into consider­
ation the original design intent of the building, its 
scale, and detailing. 

LANDSCAPE & SITE FEATURES 

The mature trees and historic monuments located 
around the building should be preserved. 
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Front Elevation 

ARCHITEcruRAL DESCRIPTION 

Building #403 is a two-and-one-half story red brick 
Colonial Revival style house that rests on a schist 
foundation. It is one of a group of eight brick 
buildings located adjacent to each other on the 
Colonel's Row, all of which exhibit Colonial-Revival 
style details. It has an L-shaped plan and is ma­
sonry bearing wall construction. An asphalt-shingle 
gable roof with raking denticulated wood cornice 
tops the structure. Fenestration consists of two­
over-two, double-hung wood windows set behind 
storm sash with prominent brick keystones and 
lintels. The building also retains its historic parred 
paneled wood doors. A full-length porch with 
Tuscan columns and a standing-seam metal roof is 
present on the front (west) elevation. Garages were 
added at the rear of the quarters in 1931. 

SITE LOCATION 

The building is last of a group of eight brick residen­
tial buildings built around the tum-of~the-century, 
along what is now Hay Road, constructed according 
to standardized plans of the Quartermaster General. 
This area comprises a row of distinguished brick 
residences facing a large wedge-shaped open space 
with two long avenues lined by London Plane trees. 
It resembles a rustic boulevard. Its rear facade faces 
the main parade ground and Fort Jay . 

Site Location Map 

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT 

BUILDING # 403 
OFFICER'S HOUSING 

Building #403 was built according to standard 
Quartermaster's Plans and Specifications as two 
units of officers quarters. Army real estate records, 
however, indicate that Quarters #403 was built in 
1904-06 as a single-family residence. The row along 
Hay Road, of which this is a part, was part of an 
ongoing program of construction related to the use 
of Governors Island as a major army command 
center. The presence of substantial numbers of 
important officers on the Island necessitated the 
construction of accommodations, such as these, that 
were appropriate to their rank . 

Significance 

Building # 403 is a Category 2 property. 

It is included within the New York City Governors 
Island Historic District and the National Historic 
Landmark District. It is a good example of tum-of­
the-century military-quarters design. More recently, 
the building was used for important diplomatic 
meetings between President Ronald Reagan and 
world leaders, including Francois Mitterand and 
Mikhail Gorbachev. ' 



Rear Elevation 

WHAT IS IMPORTANT TO PRESERVE? 

The exterior of Building # 403 is in good condition, 
retaining most of its original fabric. An enclosed sun 
porch has been added to the rear of the building off 
the kitchen, and a garage was built on the north side 
of the building. 

Exterior elements of the building that should be 
preserved include its overall design, scale, and form; 
brick masonry exterior; wood windows; ornamental 
keystones lintels and sills; denticulated wood 
cornices at roof line and between 2nd and 3rd floors; 
front porch with Tuscan columns; corbeled chim­
neys; rusticated foundation; and, paneled wood 
entrance doors. 

Although there are some interesting details in the 
building interior, there are no elements that require 
preservation. 

KEY PRESERVATION ISSUES 

The orientation of the building to the parade ground 
and green, as one of the officers housing units along 
the row is important, as is the overall style and 
configuration of the structure. 

There are no apparent opportunities for additions on 
the front of the building, however, with removal of 
the non-contributing garage unit to the rear, an 
addition could be placed at that location. 

Setting 

LANDSCAPE & SITE FEATURES 

Building #403 faces the small park encompassing 
Colonel's Row with the rear facades facing the 
parade ground. It is surrounded by sloped brick 
walkways and mature trees, which should be 
preserved. 
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ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION 

Building #404 is a two-story double Colonial Revival 
style house that rests on a schist foundation. It is 
one of a group of eight brick buildings located 
adjacent to one other on the Colonel's Row. The 
entire row exhibits colonial-revival details. All were 
built according to the standardized Quartermaster's 
Plans and Specifications. Building #404 has a 
rectangular plan and symmetrical facade arrange­
ment with a cross-gable roof that has prominent 
denticulated cornices. The roof is sheathed in 
asphalt shingles. The structure is red pressed brick 
masonry-bearing construction. Fenestration consists 
of two-over-two double-hung wood windows set 
behind storm sash. Building #404 also retains its 
historic paneled wood doors set behind storm doors. 
Garages were added to the rear of the quarters in 
1931. Front porches have been removed from the 
building and their entrances reconfigured . 

Sm LocATION 

The building is one of a group of eight brick residen­
tial buildings built around the turn-of-the-century 
along what is now Hay Road. This area comprises a 
row of distinguished brick residences facing a large 
wedge-shaped open space with two long avenues 
lined by London Plane trees. Its rear facade faces the 
main parade ground and Fort Jay . 

Site Location Map 

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT 

BUILDING # 404 
OFFICER, S HOUSING 
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The building was built according to the standard 
Quartermaster's Plans and Specifications, as two 
units. The row along Hay Road, of which this is a 
part, was part of an ongoing program of construc­
tion related to the use of Governors Island as a major 
Army command center. The presence of substantial 
numbers of important officers on the island necessi­
tated the construction of accommodations, such as 
these, that were appropriate to their rank. In 1952, 
the building was divided into four living units. 

SIGNIFICANCE 

Building 404 is a Category 2 property. 

It is a good example of turn-of-the-century military­
quarters design. 

WHAT IS IMPORTANT TO PRESERVE? 

The exterior of Building #404 is in good condition, 
retaining most of its original exterior fabric. The two 
original porches have been removed and replaced by 
small copper hoods installed over the front doors, 
and a two-story brick enclosed sun porch was added 
to the north side of the building. 



Rear Elevation 

Exterior elements of the building that are important 
to preserve include its overall scale and design; brick 
masonry exterior; schist foundation; wood cornice; 
segmental-arched and round arched window 
openings with ornamental lintels and sills; Palladian 
windows in north & south gables; two-over-two 
double-hung windows; and, paneled wood entrance 
doors. 

The interior of the building has undergone numer­
ous remodelings and changes associated with 
conversion of the duplex into a fourplex. Although 
there are some interesting details, there are no 
interior elements requiring preservation. 

KEY PRESERVATION ISSUES 

The relationship of this building to Colonel's Row 
and the adjacent structures is an important preserva­
tion issue. Additions to the front of the building 
would be inappropriate, but additions to the rear 
may be acceptable, especially if the non-contributing 
garages were removed. 

LANDSCAPE & Srrn FEATURES 

Building # 404 faces the small park encompassing 
Colonel's Row with the rear facades facing the 
parade ground. It is surrounded by sloped brick 
walkways and mature trees, which should be 
preserved. 

Side Elevation 
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ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION 

Building #406 is a two and one-half story red brick, 
double Romanesque Revival style house that rests 
on a schist foundation. It is one of a group of eight 
brick buildings located adjacent to one another on 
Colonel's Row. Building #406, along w·ith buildings 
#405, #407 and #408, was built as a double-unit 
officer's quarters, according to the standardized 
Quartermaster's Plans and Specifications. This 
building has a symmetrical plan with a projecting 
central gable on the front facade. Two hipped-roof 
wings project from the rear of the building. Wood 
denticulated cornices help define the roof form. The 
house is red pressed brick masonry-bearing con­
struction. The cross-gable roof is covered with 
asphalt shingles. The building retains its original 
paired front porches, which are supported by 
slender, paired Tuscan columns. The detailing of the 
porch and the shape of the window openings and 
the front stairs varies from the standard plan. 
Fenestration consists of one-over-one double-hung 
wood windows and paneled wood doors. 

SITE LOCATION 

The building is one of a group of eight brick residen­
tial buildings built around the turn-of-the-century 
along what is now Hay Road constructed according 
to standardized plans of the Quartermaster General. 

Site Location Map 

BUILDING # 406 
OFFICER'S HOUSING 

The area in which it is located comprises a row of 
distinguished brick residences facing a large wedge­
shaped open space with two long avenues lined by 
London Plane trees. It resembles a rustic boulevard. 
Its rear facade faces the main parade ground and 
Fort Jay. 

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT 

Building #406 was built in 1893 according to stan­
dard Quartermaster's Plans and Specifications as 
two units of officers quarters. The row along Hay 
Road, of which this is a part, was part of an ongoing 
program of construction related to the use of Gover­
nors Island as a major army command center. The 
presence of substantial numbers of important 
officers on the Island necessitated the construction of 
accommodations, such as these, that were appropri­
ate to their rank. 

SIGNIFICANCE 

Building #406 is a Category 2 property. 

It is a good example of turn-of-the-century military­
quarters design . 



Rear/Side Elavetion 

WHAT IS IMPORTANT TO PRESERVE? 

The exterior of Building # 406 is in good condition, 
retaining most of its original fabric. 

Exterior elements of the building that should be 
preserved include its overall design, scale, and form; 
brick masonry exterior; schist foundation; wood 
cornices; segmental-arched and round-arched 
window openings; ornamental lintels and sills; one­
over-one double-hung wood windows; paneled 
wood entrance doors with transoms; and, wood 
porch elements. 

There are no interior elements that required preser­
vation. 

KEY PRESERVATION ISSUES 

The location, scale, and design of the building facing 
the green as part of Colonel's Row is critical in 
maintaining the character of the site. New construc­
tion or additions should be limited to areas away 
from the front and side facades, but could occur at 
the rear of the building on the site of the non­
contributing garages. 

Setting 

LANDSCAPE & SITE FEATURES 

Building # 406 faces the small park encompassing 
Colonel's Row with the rear facades facing the 
parade ground. It is surrounded by sloped brick 
walkways, which should be preserved, and mature 
trees. 
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ARCHITECfURAL DESCRIPTION 

Building #407 is a two and one-half story red brick, 
double Romanesque Revival style house that rests 
on a schist foundation. It is one of a group of eight 
brick buildings located adjacent to one another on 
Colonel's Row. Building #407, along with buildings 
#405, #406, and #408, was built as a double-unit 
officer's quarters, according to standardized 
Quartermaster's Plans and Specifications in 1894. 
This building has a symmetrical plan with a project­
ing central gable on the front facade. Two hipped­
roof wings project from the rear of the building. 
Wood denticulated cornices help define the roof 
form. The house is red pressed brick masonry­
bearing construction. The cross-gable roof is covered 
with asphalt shingles. The building has paired front 
porches. Slender, paired Tuscan columns support 
one original porch. The porch to the south has been 
expanded and enclosed to create a sunroom. The 
detailing of the porch and the shape of the window 
openings and the front stairs varies from the stan­
dard plan. Fenestration consists of one-over-one 
double-hung wood windows set within segmental­
and round- arched openings featuring splayed brick 
lintels and slate sills. The building retains its historic 
paneled wood doors. 

Sile Location Map 

SITE LOCATION 

BUILDING # 407 
OFFICER'S HOUSING 
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The building is one of a group of eight brick residen­
tial buildings built around the turn-of-the-century 
along what is now Hay Road constructed according 
to standardized plans of the Quartermaster General. 
The area in which it is located comprises a row of 
distinguished brick residences facing a large wedge­
shaped open space with two long avenues lined by 
London Plane trees. It resembles a rustic boulevard. 
Its rear facade faces the main parade ground and 
Fort Jay. 

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT 

Building #407 was built in 1894 according to stan­
dard Quartermaster's Plans and Specifications as 
two units of officers quarters. The row along Hay 
Road, of which this is a part, was part of an ongoing 
program of construction related to the use of Gover­
nors Island as a major army command center. The 
presence of substantial numbers of officers on the 
island necessitated the construction of accommoda­
tions, such as these, that were appropriate to their 
rank. A small, non-contributing, brick garage was 
added to the northeast corner of the building in 
1931. A memorial, semicircular bench is present in 
front of the building . 



Rear Elevation 

SIGNIFICANCE 

Building #407 is a Category 2 property. 

It is a good example of turn-of-the-century military­
quarters design. 

WHAT IS IMPORTANT TO PRESERVE? 

The exterior of Building #407 is in good condition, 
retaining most of its original fabric, however the 
interior underwent significant WPA-era alterations. 
Although a small garage and enclosed sun porch 
have been added to the structure, it still succeeds in 
conveying its historic appearance. The front porch of 
Unit B was tom down & replaced with a brick 
enclosed sunroom w I a sunken garage below and a 
front vestibule were removed. An attached garage 
was built toward rear of Unit A. Unit B was com­
pletely gutted and reconfigured around 1938. Unit A 
is more intact with a greater number of historic 
details. 

Exterior elements of the building that should be 
preserved include its basic design, scale, and form; 
brick masonry exterior; schist foundation; wood 
cornices; segmentally-arched and non-arched 
window openings; ornamental lintels and sills; 
paneled wood entrance doors; and, wood porch 
elements. 

Setting 

Due to extensive remodelings, there are no interior 
elements that require preservation. 

KEY PRESERVATION ISSUES 

Building # 407 is part of a prominent group of 
buildings within the Historic District, maintenance 
of its design and scale are important to preserve the 
character of the site. New construction or additions 
to the building should not occur on the front of side 
facades. 

LANDSCAPE & SITE FEATURES 

Building # 407 faces the small park encompassing 
Colonel's Row with the rear facades facing the 
parade ground. It is surrounded by sloped brick 
walkways, which should be preserved and main­
tained, and mature trees. 
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Front Elevation 

ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION 

Building # 408 is a two and one-half story, brick 
double Romanesque Revival style house on a 
rusticated schist foundation that was constructed as 
an officers quarters. It is one of a group of eight 
brick buildings located adjacent to one another on 
Colonel's Row. Building #408, along with buildings 
#403, #404, #405, #406 and #407, was built according 
to standardized Quartermaster's Plans and Specifi­
cations in 1895. This building has an irregular­
shaped plan and consists of a red pressed brick 
masonry bearing walls topped with an asphalt­
shingle cross gable roof with paired gabled dormers. 
Prominent cornices help to define the roof form. 
Segmental-arched and round-arched window 
openings have splayed brick lintels and slate sills. 
Differences in #408 mainly appear in the width of 
the back stairs, which are wider than on other 
buildings. Other differences appear in the design of 
the attic dormer windows and in the details of the 
porch. The building retains its two-over-two 
double-hung historic wood windows set behind 
storm sash and paneled doors. The building pos­
sesses paired porches situated on either side of a 
projecting center wing. Square brick replacement 
piers support the porches. A garage was added to 
the northeast side in 1931. The southeast side garage 
was added later, and is located on the basement. 

BUILDING # 408 
OFFICER'S HOUSING 
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Site Locatio11 Map 

S1TE LOCATION 

Building #408 is one of a group of eight brick 
residential buildings built around the tum-of-the­
century along what is now Hay Road constructed 
according to standardized plans of the Quartermas­
ter General. The area in which it is located is a row 
of distinguished brick residences facing a large 
wedge-shaped open space with two long avenues 
lined by London Plane trees. It resembles a rustic 
boulevard. Its rear facade faces the main parade 
ground and Fort Jay. 

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT 

The building was constructed according to standard 
Quartermaster's Plans and Specifications as two 
units of officers quarters. The row along Hay Road, 
of which this is a part, was part of an ongoing 
program of construction related to the use of Gover­
nors Island as a major army command center. The 
presence of substantial numbers of important 
officers on the island necessitated the construction of 
accommodations, such as these, that were appropri­
ate to their rank. 

SIGNIFICANCE 

Building #408 is a Category 2 property 



Rear Elevation 

It is a good example of tum-of-the-century military­
quarters design. 

WHAT IS IMPORTANT TO PRESERVE? 

The exterior of Building #408 is in good condition, 
retaining most of its original fabric. The original 
wood front porches of each unit have been rebuilt in 
brick. 

Exterior elements of the building that should be 
preserved include its design, scale, and form; brick 
masonry exterior; schist foundation; wood cornices; 
segmental-arched and round-arched window 
openings; ornamental lintels and sills; paneled wood 
entrance doors with transoms; wood porch elements; 
and, two-over-two double hung wood windows. 

The interiors of all of the Colonel's Row houses have 
been significantly altered. Because of this, there are 
no interior elements that require preservation. 

KEY PRESERVATION ISSUES 

The contribution of this building to the Colonel's 
Row is critical to maintain. Additions to the build­
ing should not be placed on the front or sides, but 
may be constructed at the rear. 

Setting 

LANDSCAPE & SITE FEATURES 

Building #408 faces the small park encompassing 
Colonel's Row with the rear facades facing the 
parade ground. It is surrounded by sloped brick 
walkways and mature trees, which should be 
preserved and maintained. 
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ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION 

Building #409 is a two and one-half story Colonial 
Revival style residence resting on an ashlar lime­
stone foundation that was built as Bachelor Officers' 
Quarters. Its is one of a group of eight brick build­
ings located adjacent to each other on Colonel's 
Row. Buildings #403 to #410 were built according to 
the standardized Quartermaster's Plans and Specifi­
cations between 1893 and 1927. Building #409 is T­
shaped in plan and consists of a brown brick ma­
sonry bearing walls topped with a slate-covered 
hipped roof with hipped-roof dormers. Four brick 
chimneys punctuate the roof. Window openings 
have splayed brick lintels and are two-over-two 
double-hung wood sash set behind storm sash. The 
building retains its historic paneled wood entrance 
doors with transoms. A full-l~ngth wood porch 
covers the front (west) elevation. It is accessed by 
three sets of wood steps. The front porch has several 
square brick replacement columns on the first floor 
that support wood Tuscan columns on the second 
level. 

SITE LOCATION 

The building is one of a group of eight brick residen­
tial buildings built around the turn-of-the-century 
along what is now Hay Road constructed according 
to standardized plans of the Quartermaster General. 

Site Location Map 

BUILDING # 409 
BACHELOR 0FFICERS1 QUARTERS 

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT 

Building # 409 was built according to standard 
Quartermaster's Plans and Specifications as Bach­
elor Officers' Quarters. The row along Hay Road, of 
which this is a part, was part of an ongoing program 
of construction related to the use of Governors 
Island as a major army command center. The 
presence of substantial numbers of important 
officers on the island necessitated the construction of 
accommodations, such as these, that were appropri­
ate to their rank. Garages were added to the north 
and south sides of the quarters in 1931. 

SIGNIFICANCE 

Building # 409 is a Category 2 property. 

It is a good example of turn-of-the-century military 
quarters design . 

WHAT IS IMPORTANT TO PRESERVE? 

The exterior of Building # 409 is in good condition, 
retaining most of its original fabric. The interior was 
gutted and the floor plan extensively redesigned. All 
of the windows have been replaced. On the south 
facade four twentieth century brick piers have 
replaced the original wood columns. 



Rear Elevation 

Exterior elements of the building that should be 
preserved include its original design and scale; brick 
masonry exterior; two-story front porch; exterior 
wood stairs; slate roof; window openings with brick 
lintels; wood cornices; and, paneled front doors with 
transoms. 

Because of extensive remodelings, there are no 
interior elements that should be preserved. 

KEY PRESERVATION ISSUES 

The setting of this building within Colonel's Row is 
important, as is its design and scale. 

No additions should be placed on the front of the 
building, however, changes could be made to the 
read (Parade Ground) side. 

LANDSCAPE & SITE FEATURES 

Building #409 faces the small park encompassing 
Colonel's Row with the rear facades facing the 
parade ground. It is surrounded by sloped brick 
walkways and driveways, which should be pre­
served and maintained, along with mature trees. 

Partial Side Elevation Showing Added Garages 
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ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION 

Building #410 is a two-family, rectangular plan, 
brown brick modified Arts and Crafts style dwell­
ing. It is located at the northwest end of the row of 
larger officer's residences along Hay Road. It is two­
story brown brick masonry bearing wall construc­
tion with a raised brick foundation and an asphalt­
shingle hipped roof with wide eaves. The double 
central entrance faces west and is enclosed by small 
screened-in wood porches. Brick chimneys are 
present on either end of the building. The structure 
retains its paneled wood doors and six-over-six 
double-hung wood windows set behind storm sash 
with limestone sills. The building was built as 
duplex officers' quarters and is the only example of 
this plan on the Island. 

Srrn LocATION 

The building was constructed in 1917 as one of a 
group of eight brick residential buildings built 
around the turn-of-the-century along what is now 
Hay Road constructed according to standardized 
plans of the Quartermaster General. This area 
comprises a row of distinguished brick residences 
facing a large wedge-shaped open space with two 
long avenues lined by London Plane trees. Its rear 
facade faces the main parade ground and Fort Jay . 

BUILDING # 410 
OFFICER'S HOUSING 
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HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT 

Building #410 was built as two units and was the 
last constructed in this group. The row along Hay 
Road, of which this is a part, was part of an ongoing 
program of construction related to the use of Gover­
nors Island as a major army command center. The 
presence of substantial numbers of important 
officers on the Island necessitated the construction of 
accommodations, such as these, that were appropri­
ate to their rank. 

SIGNIFICANCE 

Building 410 is a Category 2 property. 

It is unique due to its smaller scale and varied use of 
materials. Although it was built according to 
standardized Quartermaster plans, it is the only 
house of its type on the Island. It is a good example 
of turn-of-the-century military-quarters design. 

WHAT IS lMPOIITANT TO PRESERVE? 

The exterior of Building #410 is in good condition, 
retaining most of its original fabric. The only 
alterations are the screening in of the front porches 
and the additional of small wood porches to the rear. 



Rear Elevation 

Exterior elements of the building that should be 
preserved include its design and scale; exterior brick 
masonry; hipped roof supported by flared brackets 
at eaves; and, paneled wood doors. 

There are no interior elements that require preserva­
tion. 

KEY PRESERVATION ISSUES 

This building forms an anchor to the Colonel's Row 
development along Hay Road. Accordingly, its 
design and scale are important issues. 

Any new construction or additions associated with 
this building should not be placed on the front or 
read facades. 

LANDSCAPE & SITE FEATURES 

Building #410 faces the small park encompassing 
Colonel's Row with the rear facades facing the 
parade ground. It is surrounded by sloped brick 
walkways and driveways, and mature trees, which 
should be preserved and maintained. 
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ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION 

Building #501, also known as Castle Williams, is one 
of the most significant structures on Governors 
Island. Built between 1807 and 1811, the structure is 
comprised of a three-story, 200-foot diameter 
masonry fort with a center courtyard. Its basic form 
consists of five-sixths of a cylinder with an engaged 
Gate House, which closes the circle. The gate house 
is the only entrance to the fort and consists of an L­
shaped two-story structure with a small turret at the 
southeast corner and large wooden gates on the east 
elevation. Castle Williams' masonry walls are 
constructed primarily of tooled Newark Red Sand­
stone. A six-foot high parapet at the top of the 
structure is constructed of granite. Arched gun 
embrasures have splayed brick sills and iron grills. 
Window openings present on the second floor of the 
gate house have cast stone lintels and sills. 

SITE LOCATION 

Castle Williams stands on the northwest edge of the 
Historic District and overlooks the Upper New York 
Bay. The fortification is situated at the intersection 
of Hay and Andes Roads. The area around Castle 
Williams is presently rather ill defined. An impres­
sive fortress, it dominates this part of the island, but 
a large parking lot lies to the southeast, and a 
modern, non-contributing dormitory is situated 

Site Location Map 

BUILDING # 501 
CASTLE WILLIAMS 

nearby to the southwest. The original depressed 
walkway that once connected Castle Williams to 
Fort Jay has been infilled, and the historically 
significant view between them blocked by the 
Library, Building #251. There is very little in the way 
of vegetation in this area, which is quite exposed 
and windy, especially on the harbor side. 

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT 

Castle Williams was originally built on an outcrop­
ping of rock 100 feet out into the channel as part of 
the federal Second American System of fortifications 
in 1805. Lt. Col. Jonathan Williams, Chief Engineer 
of the U.S. Army and first Superintendent at West 
Point, designed the fortification with multiple 
circular tiers, reflecting French engineer's 
Montalembert's theories. The circular design had 
less wall space to defend and offered greater protec­
tion to guns and men. Rather than having vulner­
able, exposed cannon on parapet walls, the fort 
contained casemate emplacements that allowed 
heavy guns to be fired in small, protected interior 
spaces. The use of casemates, multiple tiers of 
armament, and close apertures of the embrasures 
were features that made the fortification so innova­
tive for its time. Castle Williams was designed as 
part of a larger defensive system for the Island, 
which also included Fort Jay and the South Battery. 



Courtyard at Entrance 

The fortification was never fired upon, and had 
become obsolete by the mid-nineteenth century. It 
was converted for use as a detention center for 
Confederate prisoners of war and as temporary 
quarters. Its prison function was discontinued in 
1966 when the Coast Guard took control of the 
Island. 

SIGNIFICANCE 

Castle Williams is a Category 1 property. 

It is among the most significant structures on Gover­
nors Island. It was designed in conjunction with Fort 
Jay, and the South Battery as part of a comprehensive 
defensive strategy to protect New York Harbor. It is 
individually listed on the National Register of 
Historic Places and was designated an individual 
New York City Landmark in 1967. The structure was 
a prototype for American seacoast fortifications and 
is one of the best examples of its type in existence. 

WHAT IS IMPORTANT TO PRESERVE? 

The appearance of Castle Williams has been altered 
only minimally over the decades. The overall design 
and form of the building is important, along with 
exterior materials and courtyard. In addition, the 
remaining vistas to and from the Castle are impor­
tant to preserve. 

Setting 

Exterior elements of the structure that should be 
preserved include its exterior design, stone masonry 
construction, casement openings, and orientation on 
the site. 

The courtyard and interior spaces of the Castle have 
been modified extensively to accommodate changes 
in uses. Accordingly, there are no interior elements 
that should be preserved, however, the multistory 
courtyard, should be maintained, either as an open 
or enclosed space. 

KEY PRESERVATION ISSUES 

The history and design of the Castle are important 
preservation issues, as are vistas to and from the 
structure. 

LANDSCAPE & Srrn FEATURES 

Castle Williams is surrounded by paved roadways 
and parking lots. Few mature trees are located 
around the building. Limited small grassy plots are 
located on two sides of the structure. There are no 
landscapes around the structure that require preser­
vation, however, remaining vistas are important to 
preserve. 
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ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION 

Building #513 is a complex of three modem identical 
buildings arranged in a pinwheel arrangement; 
designated as #513-A, #513-B, and #513-C. Each is a 
freestanding three-story, steel-framed, brick-ve­
neered building with cantilevered wraparound 
balconies at the second and third floors. A low brick 
parapet conceals a flat roof. 

SITE LOCATION 

Building #513 is located between Hay Road and 
Craig Road North, adjacent to Castle Williams . 

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT 

Building #513 was built in 1970 enlisted quarters. A 
part of #S13A was later used as medical offices. The 
three-part building was constructed in an effort to 
provide upgraded living accommodations for Coast 
Guard personnel. 

SIGNIFICANCE 

Building #513 is a Category 4 property . 

This building is listed as a non-contributing struc­
ture in the National Historic Landmark designation 
of Governors Island . 

Site Location Map 

BUILDING # 513 
ENLISTED QUARTERS 

Building #513 is eligible for demolition but is not a 
suitable site for new construction due to its proxim­
ity to Castle Williams. 
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ARCHITECIURAL DESCRIPTION 

Building #515 is composed of a central four-story 
gable-roofed section with three-story flanking wings 
with hip roofs, built in the Neo-Georgian style. Walls 
are of red brick in common bond, with limestone 
belt courses and window sills. The eaves of the 
building feature a projecting wood cornice. The 
center section's slightly projecting entrance pavilion 
is articulated by rusticated limestone pilasters and a 
painted pediment with decorative frieze. The 
primary entrance balcony at the second floor is at 
the top of an impressive double granite stair on 
limestone walls; the stairs and balcony retain their 
original cast iron railings. At the rear of the build­
ing, second story porches at the flanking wings 
appear to have been closed during the 1950's. 
Windows throughout the building are aluminum 
six-over-six double-hung replacement windows, and 
exterior doors are non-original. While not apparent 
from the exterior, the plan of the building incorpo­
rates double loaded corridors circulating around 
two inner courtyards, intended originally to provide 
natural light and fresh air to patient rooms. The 
interior of the building was gutted in the 1980's, 
leaving no historic fabric in place. 
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SITE LOCATION 

BUILDING # 515 
POST HOSPITAL 
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Building #515 is located where Wheeler Road 
merges with Hay Road. Two parking lots to the east 
of the building obscure Building #515's original 
setting within a substantial lawn. The rear of the 
building commands remarkable views across the 
Hudson River to Ellis, Liberty, and Staten Islands. A 
small brick structure links Building # 515 to the 
adjacent, and much later, Building #513. 

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT 

Building #515 was constructed in 1935 to the design 
of the architectural office of McKirn, Mead, and 
White. Originally built as the Post Hospital, the 
building was subsequently converted for use as 
Enlisted Bachelor's Housing. The interior of the 
building was gutted and rebuilt during the 1980's, 
functioning as housing until the closing of the U.S. 
Coast Guard base. Building #515 is a part of the 
large ensemble of buildings that represent the last 
major military building campaign on Governors 
Island, and that were a part of the Island-wide 
beautification plan, initially conceived by McKim, 
Mead, and White in 1902 
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rear Elevation 

SIGNIFICANCE 

Building #515 is a Category 2 property. 

It plays a historic role in the expansion of the 
Island's population between the wars associated 
with the l61h Division. It is one of several institu­
tional buildings, such as the school (#301), the 
theater (#330), and the Army YMCA (#324), built 
during the same period as amenities to serve the 
burgeoning, self-contained military community. 

WHAT IS IMPORTANT TO PRESERVE? 

The exterior of Building #515 has retains most of its 
original exterior materials and appearance. 

Exterior elements of the building that should be 
preserved include its overall design, scale, and form; 
red brick walls; entrance pavilion with rusticated 
pilasters and pediment; granite staircase with 
limestone walls; wrought iron rails on porch and 
stairs; blind arcades on first floor; and, two internal 
courtyards. 

Because of extensive renovations, there are no 
interior elements that should be preserved. 

Setting 

KEY PRESERVATION ISSUES 

The overall design, scale and siting of the building 
are important issues to address in any reuse or 
redevelopment. The loss of integrity on the interior 
of this building clears the way for substantial 
alterations, although the interior courtyards should 
be retained. 

Care must be taken in placing additions on the 
building to preserve the historic elevations from 
both the Island side and the water side of the 
structure. 

LANDSCAPE & StTE FEATURES 

Building #515 is surrounded by concrete and asphalt 
paving, which are non-historic. Mature trees are 
located within grassy plots around the building, 
which should be preserved and maintained. 
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ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION 

Building #517 is a one-story frame structure at­
tached by an enclosed walkway to the south side of 
Building #515. Irregular in plan, the building has 
tongue and groove wood siding covered with 
asbestos shingles. The intersecting gabled roof has 
prominent eave brackets and is covered with asphalt 
shingles. The six-over-six double-hung windows are 
covered with storm sash. 

Sm LocATION 

The building is south of Building #515 and faces on 
to Clayton Road. 

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT 

Building #Sl7 was constructed c.1942. Built during 
World War II as a "temporary" medical clinic; the 
building was later used as a dental clinic by the 
Coast Guard. 

SIGNIFICANCE 

Building # 517 is a category 3 property . 

It is one of the few surviving temporary structures 
from World War II in the Governors Island Historic 
District. 

BUILDING# 517 
MEDICAL CLINIC 
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WHAT IS IMPORTANT TO PRESERVE? 
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Building #517 may be demolished. It is substantially 
original but was not intended to be permanent and 
is generally not consistent with the large brick 
structures around it. 

Exterior Elements To Be Preserved: None 

Interior Elements To Be Preserved: None 

KEY PRESERVATION ISSUES 

There are no preservation issues associated with this 
individual building. However, if it is demolished, 
and new construction is planned for its site, care 
must be taken to ensure that the new design is 
compatible with the Post Hospital, Building #515. 

LANDSCAPE AND Sm FEATURES 

Mature trees are located on grassy plots around the 
building site should, to the extent possible, be 
preserved and maintained. 
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ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION 

Building #550 is a U-shaped, three-story, brick Neo­
Georgian style building on a concrete foundation. 
The central section faces Short Avenue, and the 
wings face Clayton and Division Roads. It is con­
structed of reinforced concrete with a common­
bond, brick veneer. The first story is separated from 
the upper floors by a limestone band course. A cast 
stone course is also present above the third-floor 
windows below the roofline. The intersecting gable 
roofs have a relatively shallow pitch and are clad 
with asphalt shingles. The entrance is located within 
a projecting wing centered within the main facade. A 
columned entrance porch supporting an iron 
balustrade frames the paired panel and glass doors. 
Two-story open galleries are present along the 
courtyard facade. Windows are heavily ornamented. 
First-floor windows are positioned within blind 
arcades and have limestone keystones. Second- and 
third-floor windows are set within squared openings 
with limestone sills. 

SITE LOCATION 

The building is bounded by Short Avenue, Wheeler 
Avenue, Division Road, and Clayton Road. It has 
views of New Jersey, the Statue of Liberty, and 
Manhattan. It is paired with Building #333 to create 
flanking barracks buildings on either side of Build-

Site Location Map 

BUILDING # 550 
BARRACKS 

ing #400. It is located within the Building 400/ 
Division Road area, which is distinguished by a 
relatively monumental series of three- and four­
story buildings built between 1926 and 1940. They 
are orthogonal to each other and begin to establish a 
regular grid of streets. All of the buildings in this 
area were originally intended for barracks and 
officers quarters. This is the most uniform and 
regularized area of the Island, and has a "planned" 
feel to it. Open spaces are well defined by buildings, 
as in front of Building #550, and flow from one to 
another. Mature trees along many roadways contrib­
ute both to the regularity and scale of this part of the 
district. 

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT 

Building #550 was constructed by the Construction 
Division of the Office of the Quartermaster General 
between 1938 and 1940, and was intended to be 
paired with Building #333. The design and siting of 
these buildings were outgrowths of McKim, Mead, 
and White's earlier beautification and facilities 
improvement plans for the Island. Its Neo-Georgian 
details echo those found in Building #400 and other 
structures built during the Island's final building 
campaign. It served as barracks for 375 soldiers of 
the First Army of the United States, a unit that was 
extremely important in World War I and World War 
IL Part of the building was converted to office use 



East Elevation 

when it was turned over to the Second Service 
Command. In 1966, the Coast Guard renovated the 
building for classroom use. It was then converted for 
use as the base clinic in 1994. 

SIGNIFICANCE 

Building 550 is a Category 2 property. 

It is a manifestation of McKim, Mead, and White's 
plans for Island beautification and has close associa­
tions with the First Army of the United States. 

WHAT IS IMPORTANT TO PRESERVE? 

Significant exterior alterations to Building #550 
include the addition of new steel and glass entry 
structures on the east and courtyard facades, and the 
enclosure of the brick arcade and porch on the south 
side of the courtyard. Remodeling activity has 
removed all visible historic fabric from the interior. 
All windows are replacement, metal, six-over-six 
double-hung sash. Gable-end pediments are covered 
in stucco with lunettes. 

Exterior elements of the building that should be 
preserved include its scale and style; exterior brick 
masonry; courtyard colonnades and arcades; lime­
stone entrance portico; blind window arches; lime­
stone band course and keystone; projecting pedi­
ments with brick piers; limestone and wood cor­
nices; and, Palladian windows and surrounds. 

Partial Elevation Showing Recent Additions 

There are no interior elements that should be 
preserved. 

KEY PRESERVATION ISSUES 

The scale, style, and details of this building, along 
with its siting, are important issues to address, as is 
the original detailing, and open space surrounding 
the building. Because of its relationship to Building 
#400, any additions placed on the east side of the 
building must take into consideration the association 
with that building and its dominate design. Due to 
site restrictions, there appears to be no opportunity 
for additions on the north, south, or west sides of the 
building. 

LANDSCAPE & SITE FEATURES 

Building #550 is surrounded by concrete and asphalt 
paving, which are non-historic. The mature trees 
and grassy plots around the building. should be 
preserved and maintained. 
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ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION 

Building #555, built in 1938-40, is a three-and-one­
half story, rectangular-shaped Neo- Georgian style 
structure. The building is constructed of red brick 
laid in common bond with simple Georgian Revival 
detailing and cast stone accents at the entrance and 
sills. It is organized into three sections with a 
shallow projecting pavilion surmounted by a 
pediment, which intersects the slate-covered hipped 
roofs. The design and details are identical to Build­
ing #315. 

SITE LOCATION 

The building overlooks New York Harbor, and is 
bordered by Short Avenue to the east, Clayton Road 
to the north, and Division Road to the west. 

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT 

Building #555 was constructed in 1938-40 along with 
Building #315, anchoring the two ends of Division 
Road, as family housing for officers of the 161h 

Regiment. Situated on landfill, it was part of the 
unified beautification plan proposed in 1928 for 
Governors Island by the architectural office of 
McKim, Mead and White. Stylistically it is compat­
ible with other contemporary structures on the 
Island. 
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SIGNIFICANCE 

BUILDING # 555 
FAMILY HOUSING 

Building #555 is a Category 2 property. 

Designed by the prominent New York architectural 
firm of McKim, Mead & White, Building # 555 is 
typical of the residential buildings built by the Army 
in the 1930's to accommodate the permanent mili­
tary community on the Island. This structure is 
within the New York City Landmarks Preservation 
Commission's Governors Island Historic District. It 
is included in the National Register for Historic 
Places nomination, which dates from October 1984. 

What is Important to Preserve? 

Building # 555 appears to have few alterations or 
modernizations. 

Exterior elements of the building that should be 
preserved include it scale and design; brick ma­
sonry; cast stone door surrounds; pediments at 
projecting pavilions; wood cornice; iron rails at 
steps; leaded glass; and, transom above entry doors. 

There are no interior elements that require preserva­
tion. 



West Elevation 

KEY PRESERVATION Issm.is 

As with Building #315, the scale and design of this 
building are important, as is the vistas to and from 
the structure. Because of site constraints, there 
appears to be no area suitable for additions. 

LANDSCAPE & SrTE FEATURES 

Building #555 is surrounded by concrete and asphalt 
paving which are non-historic. Mature trees are 
located within grassy plots around the building, 
which should be preserved and maintained. 

Setting 
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No/an Park 

DESCRIPTION 

Nolan Park, at the upper east comer of the Historic 
District, was formed with the development of 
quarters 1 through 10 on its east side, and quarters 
14 through 20 on the west. The north end of the 
Park is defined by building 25, and buildings 11 and 
14 close the southern end. The Park is transected by 
brick pedestrian walkways. Brick sidewalks also 
line the edges of the Park open space and mature 
trees. Included in the Park are several commemora­
tive markers and military artifacts, including an 
account of the purchase of the island by Wouter Van 
Twiller in 1637. 

Colonel's Row Green is a relatively small triangular, 
parklike space between Hay Road and Clayton 
Road. The are contains mature trees, grass, and 
brick walkways. 

SITE LOCATION 

Nolan Park is located at the upper east comer of the 
Island, between the west sides of buildings 1 
through 10, and the east sides of buildings 16 
through 20 . 

Site Location Map 

NOLAN PARK & 
COLONEL'S Row GREEN 

Colonel's Row Green is located southwest of Fort 
Jay, in the southern third of the Historic District. It is 
bounded on the northeast by quarters 403 through 
410, and on the southwest by building 400. The 
intersection of buildings 403 and 400 close its 
southern end, but the northern end is open toward 
Castle Williams, 

SIGNIFICANCE 

Nolan Park and Colonel's Row Green are defined in 
the New York City Landmarks Preservation Com­
mission Governors Island Historic District report, 
dated June 18, 1996 as two of the "important land­
scape features (which) clearly reflect the island's 
development patterns and spatial relationships". 

Nolan Park was named for Major General Dennis E. 
Nolan, who was Commander of the First Army from 
1933 to 1936. It was simply referred to as "the 
green" in nineteenth-century documents and 
accounts. It provided a Park setting for the adminis­
tration buildings and officers' quarters built around 
"the green" throughout the 19th century. The Park's 
current configuration dates to at least the 1870s, 
when it appeared in a ca. 1871 map of the island. 

Nolan Park is a Category 2 property. 



Colonel's Row Green 

Colonel's Row Green sits on landfill, just south of the 
island's original shoreline. It is thought to be work 
carried out through the WPA during the late 1930s. 

Coloner's Row Green is a Category 2 property. 

WHAT IS IMPORTANT TO PRESERVE 

The open spaces defined as Nolan Park and 
Colonel's Row Green are important to understand­
ing the evolution of development on the island. The 
brick walkways and mature trees lining those 
walkways are defining features, as is the uncluttered 
lawn areas. 
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Glacis extending from Ft. fay 

DESCRIPTION 

A Glads is defined as a slope extended in front of a 
fortification in such a way that it can be swept by the 
defenders' fire. As originally developed, the Glads 
surrounding Ft. Jay extending to the shorelines of 
the island on all sides. It is fairly uniform grass area 
sightly sloping down from the Fort. The introduc­
tion of buildings during the 19th and 20th centuries 
has interrupted the unimpeded access to the shore­
line, but the character of the feature remains, espe­
cially on the west and south sides of the Fort. 

SITE LOCATION 

The Ft. Jay Glads extends from the fortification 
north to buildings 109 and 110, south to building 
293, incorporating what was defined as the Parade 
Ground, east to buildings 105 and Nolan Park, and 
west to building 251 and buildings 403 through 410 . 

SIGNIFICANCE 

The Ft. Jay Glads (including what was defined as 
the Parade Ground, was defined in the New York 
City Landmarks Preservation Commission Gover­
nors Island Historic District report, dated June 18, 
1996 as one of the "important landscape features 
(which) clearly reflect the island's development 
patterns and spatial relationships" . 

(.... 

FORT JAY q.RAc1s 

Site Location Map 

The Glacis is a Category 2 property. 

WHAT IS IMPORTANT TO PRESERVE 

The open space defined as the Ft. Jay Glacis is 
important to understanding the evolution of devel­
opment on the island. The open lawn area is its 
primary character defining feature. 




